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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

TAMPA DIVISION

: . )} Case No.: 8:06-cv-1611-T-23EAJ
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, . )
" Plaintiff, g
)
VS. . )
TIMOTHY M. ROBERTS, ;
Defendant. . ;

FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT
FOR INJUNCTIVE AND OTHER RELIEF

Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission (“Commission”) alleges:
| I INTRODUCTION
1. From November 2004 through February 2005, défendant Timothy M. Roberts,
~ then Chief Executive Officer of Inflmum Labs, Inc. (“Infinium Labs™), engaged in a scheme to
increase sales of Infinium Labs stock by proﬁding materially false and misleading information
.to potential stock purchasers concerning the company’s prospects while at the same time -selling
his own shares of tﬁe company’s stock for personal gain.

2. To effect this scheme, Roberts hired a stock promoter, Michael Pickens, to
distribute reports on the company by facsimile (“fax™) to tens of thousands of potentidl investors
across the United States. Pickens’s faxes made it appear as if Infinium Labs \.ve-re on the Veﬁgé
of launching its ﬂagship producf, a home videogame s&stem called the “Phantom,” when, in fact,
the company had postponed the launch of the product because it lacked the financial resources to

overcome the significant technological and manufacturing hurdles it faced.
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3. Roberts feceived and reviewed ;:opies of the misleadihg faxes during the |
promotional cainpaign. Instead of putting an end to the faxes, howevér, Roberts paid and
éncouraged Pickens to continue. Roberts profited from the scheme by selling approximately
$422,500 in Infinium Labé’ stock from his personal account, on rhany occasions without publicly
_diéclosing his sales. In addition, Roberts paid Pickens with shares of Inﬁ;iium Labs’ stock
without registering the transfer with the Commission. These éctivities violated the federal
securities laws;

.4. The Commission seeks judgment against Roberts enjoining him from future
viélations of the securities laWs, requiﬁng that h_e disgorge any gain or benefit he received from
his past violations of those laws, and imposing a penalty for his violaﬁons. The Commission
aléo requests that the judgment prohibit Roberts from sefving in the future as an officer or

- director of a public company and from participating in ény offering of penny stock.

| L THE DEFENDANT

-5. Timothy M. Roberts, age 36, lives in Longboat Key, Florid;a. During the relevant
period, he served as Chief Ex.e_cutive Officer of Infinium Labs and Chairman of the Infinjum -
Labs Board of Directors. Roberts, Who founded Infinium Labs in December 2002, beneﬁ?:ially
owned approximately 25 percent of the company’s 'corhmon stock during the relevant period.
Roberts resigned as CEO in August 2005, but remains as the Chairman of the Board of Directors.

IIl. RELATED PARTY

6. Infinium Labs, Inc. is a Delaware corporation that currenitly has its principal place

of business in Seattle, Washington. From December 2002 through appfoximatgly August 2005,

the company was headquartered in Sarasota, Florida. At the time of the conduct described in this
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Complgint, Infinium Labs was a development stage company with plans to market a home
videogame console with an accompanying on-line subscription game service.

7. During the relevant period, shares of Infinium Labs <.:ommon stock were registered -
with the Commission pursuant to Section 12(g) of tﬁe Securities Exchange Act of 1934

~ (“Exchange Act”) [15U.S.C. § 78)(g)]. The company was a “penny stock” issuer ﬁursuant to
Section 3(a)(51) of the Exchange Act[15US.C. § -780(a)(51)] and Rule 3a51-1 thereunder [17
C.F.R. § 240.3a51-1]. Infinium Labs common stock was quoted on the OTC Bulletin Board
under the symbdl “IFLB.”

8. Also during the relevant period, Infinium Labs filed reports wifh thé Conimiséion
pursuant to Seétion 13 of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78m]. The company reported on a
calendar year basis, meaning, for example, that its first quarter ended on March 31.

" IV. JURISDICTION AND VENUE |

9. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Sections 20(b), 20(d) and
22(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 (“Securities Act”) [15 U.S.C. §§ 77t(b), 77t(d) and 77v(a)],
and Sections 21(d), 21(e) and 27 of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78u(d), 78u(e) and 78aa].

10.  This District Court is a proper venue for this action because defendant Roberts
resides in this district and certain of the acts and transacﬁons at issue in this acﬁon occurred here.
In addition, at the time of the conduct set forth below,. Infinium Labs had its principal place of :
business in this district. |

11. = Defendant ROberts, directly and indirectly, made ﬁse of the means and
instrumentalities of interstate commerce, the means and instruments of transportation and
communic_:ation in interstate commerce, and the mails, in connectién with the acts, practices and

courses of conduct set forth in this Complaint.
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V.  DEFENDANT’S CONDUCT

12.  Roberts founded Infinium Labs as a start-up company in December 2002.
Infinium Labs became a public company, réquired to file quaﬁerly and other periodic reports
with the Commission, follo\a-/ing a reverse merger completed in early January 2064. As founder,
Chief Executive Officer, and Chairman of the Infinium Labs Board of Directors, Roberts
acquired approximately 25 berbent of the company’s outstanding common stock in the merger.

13. . Roberts wanted Infinium Labs to develop ahd market a new home videogame
system. At about the same time as the merger in January 2004, Robérts hired executives with
expérience in the videogame industry, including a form_er Microsoft employee who had worked.
on the Xbox. Roberts intended Infinium Labs’ system to license videogames from softwaré
manufacturers and to deliver the games over the Intérnet to home users on a subscription basis.
Roberts and Infinium Labs dubbed the nascent syétem the “Phantom.”

1-4, Infinium Labs attracted a significant amount of publicity for the Phantom at an
industry tradé show in March 2004. Studies commissipned by Infinium Labs, referenced in the
coinpany’s filings with the Commission, projected tﬁat the Phantom would ‘bring in
approxiﬁlately $35 million in revenue to Infinium Labs in its first 12 months. As a development
.stage company, however,. Infinium Labs had no existing products to generate the capital
neceséary to fund the Phantom’s launch. .In light of the potential market for the Phantom, the
date for the expected launch of the product was an extremely important event for Infinium Labs
énd of great interest to its existing and prospective stockholders.

15.  For several months following_ the trade show, Infinium Labs publicly stated that it
planned to launch the Phantom system in mid-Novembér 2004. Infinium Labs mahagement, _

including Roberts, knew that the November target for Phantom was aggressive. Although the
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company had built a working prototype of the game console in the spring of 2004, a considerable
amount of work remained in order to launch the service on a large scale to consumers. For
example, Infinium Labs had not fulIy‘ developed the software required to stream games over the
Internet, nor had it licensed the content for its game catalog or pértnered with a retailer to mmket

- the system.- The process to manufacture .(and then ship) the molded plastic Phantom game _
consoles from Chiﬁa had to be started at least 150-180 days beforé the date of the iaunch. The
planned manufacturing proééss was not only time-consumﬁg, Hut also required sub;tantial up-
front capital expenditures.

16. Infinium Labs management calculated that many of the hurdles to the launch of |
Phantom could be solved if the com]:;any raised enough money to hire a sufficient numbér of
developers to work on the teéhnology. In reports filed with the Commission in mid-2004,
Infinium Labs estimated thét it required'approximately $11.5 million to fund the Phantom
launch. This figure included the amount needed to manufacture and ship the consoles from
China.

17.  Roberts assigned himself the role as the company’s primary fundraiser. In June
2004, Roberts was introduced to stock promoter Michaei Pickens. Picicens said that he céuld
help the company find investors to fund the_laﬁnch of the Phaﬁtqm service. Pickens did not find
any investors, however, ahd Roberts lost contact with him by the end of the summer of 2004.

18. Roberts. and Infinium Labs failed to secure sufficient funding fo launch the
Phantom system. In or about September 2004, Infinium Labs managemént realized that the

' company could not meet the projected mid-November launch date. On September 23, 2004, in a
- report filed with the Commission on Form 8-K, Infinium Labs first publicly disclosed _that it

would not introduce its service until an unspecified time in 2005. In its report for the its third
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fiscal quarter endiﬁg September 30, 2004, filed with the Commission on Form 10-QSB on
November 23, 2004, Infinium Labs subsequently estimated that the launch of Phantom would
not occur until the company’s fiscal quarter éndjng June 30, 2005.

19. In addition to delaying the Phantom launch, the ﬁmding shortfall meant that
Infintum Labs could not meet payroll. In or about September 2004, the company started paying
its employees with compa'ny stock instead of cash. Roberts, who was experiencing his own

financial problems at the time, was similarly paid in Infinium Labs stock in lieu of éash
compensation. In November and December 2004, Roberts received 500,000 shares of Infinium

| Labs stock as compensaﬁon for his serv_ices.. Roberts did not file public notices of the stock
granfs on Forms 4 with the Commission, as required. | |

20.  Inor about early November 20.04, Roberts and Pickens became reacquainted.
Pickens offered to promote the purchase of Infinium Labs stock in a “fax campaign.” Roberts
agreed to the proposal. On November 8, 2004, Roberts asked Pickens to “start tod_ay.”

21.  Pickens began the fax campaign on November 9, 2004, sending tens of thousands
faxes through a “fax blasting” company based in Miami, Florida intending to attract potential
investors. The faxes were transmitted from éomputer servers in Miami to fax machines across
the United States. The initial campaign continued through November 19, 2004. Pi_ckens sent
additiohal faxes on December 14 and 16, 2004. Beginning on December 23, 2004, Pickens sent

| faxes periodically through January 2005. The last faxes were transmitted from February.l to
February 3, 2005.

22.  The faxes contained false and nﬁsleading statements, described further below,

about the timing of Infinium lLabs’ planned launch of the‘ Phantom, the prospects for the value of

'its stock, and the company’s management.
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23.  The faxes sent ffom November 9 to November 19, 2004, falsely asserted that
“Infinium Labs management has done the work to make sure that the product launch is 100%
successful in January 2005. That is only a few weeks away from now and the stock is trading at
a fraction of its true vélue.” During the period in November when the faxes were sent to
potential investors, Infinium Labs had no plans to launch the Phantom system as early as January
2005. According to its internal projections, because of the financial, manufadturing, and other
technical hurdles, a January 2005 launch date was not feasible at the time the faxes were
transmitted. By claiming that the company “has done the work” and that “the stock is trading at
a fraction of its true value,” thé faxes misled potential investors concerning the significant
obstacles to launch of Phantom.

24.  The faxes sent in December 2004 and later contained similar misrepresentations
about the company’s business plans. The faxes falsely stated that “Infinjum Labs management
has doné the work to make sure thaf the product -launbh 1s 100% successful in the lsf qtr of 2005.
That is only ;1 few weeks away from now and the stock is trading at a fraction of its i:rue value.”
At the time that the faxes were sent to poteptial investors, Inﬁnium Labs had no plans to launch ‘
the Phantom system by the end of its first fiscal quarter ending March 31, 2005. The financial, -
manufacturing, and other technical hul;dleé precluded the launch of the Phantom by the end of
March_ 2005. By claiming that the éompany “has done the work™ and that “the stock is trading at
a fraction of its true value,” the faxes misled potential investors concerniﬁg the significant
obstacles to launch of Phantom. |

-25. All of the faxes sent during the promotional campaign contained “price targets”
substantially above the then-current trading price for'Inﬁm'um_ Labs stock. The price targets

corresponded with the purported date of the Phantom iaiunch, according to the faxes. The faxes
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sent in November 2004 projecteéd that the Phantom would be launched in January 2005, and
contained corresponding January price targets. For example, the faxes sent on November 9,
2004, projected a January 2005 launch of the Phantom system. The faxes included the following
chart: “Price Target—3 Month $4.50*”. "Anote following the asterisk asserted: “IFLB will be
$4 + by January—an -int_:rease from today’s price of 1379%”. At the time that the faxes were
tranémi_tted, Infinium Labs stock was trading at about 29 cents per share.

26; Similarly, the faxes sent in December 2004 and later projected that the Phantom
would be launched by the end of the company’s first fiscal quarter in 2005.- All of the faxes
contained corresponding March price térgets. Faxes sent on January 26, 2005, for example,
included the following chart: “Price Target=—3 Month $10.50*”. A note following the asterisk
asserted: “IFLB will be $6 + by March—an increase from today’s price of 3000% +”. The faxes
continued, “This is the most incredible opportunity of 2005, and you cén begin to take profits
next month because the stock will tl’iple in value in the next 30 days.” At the time that the faxes .
were ﬁansmiﬁed, Infinium Labs stock was trading at about 55 éents per share.

27.  The price targets were based. on the false and misleading assertion that Infinium
Labs “has done the work” to launch the Phantoni system. None of the price targets had 2.1

 reasonable basis in fact. Indeed,_ the company’s distressed cash flow .and its inability to bring the
Phantom to market indicated a contrary treﬁd.

28.  All of the faxes sent during thé promotional campaign containéd a chart showing
the number of Infinium Labs shares outstanding and the compan.y’s “public float.” According to
the faxes, Infinium Labs had “27.2 mﬂlion” shares outstanding and a “1.7 million public float.
These ﬁgurés were false. During the relevant .period, more than 100 million shares of Infinium

Labs common stock had been issued and were outstanding. The vast majority of the company’s
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outstanding shares were publicly traded and not held by the company’s management. By grossly
understating the true numbers, the faxes greatly magnified the potential effect of the Phantom_
launch on the value of Inﬁnium LabS stock.

29.  Finally, the faxes sent in December 2004 aﬁd later asserted the following:
“Infinium hires former Microsoft X-Box developer to head company™ and “Infinium brings
former Mjcrosoft X-Box developer as CEO.” These assertions were false. The Chief Executive
Officer of Infinium Labs—Roberts—had ﬁever worked at Microsoft.

30.  Public trading in Infinium Labs stock surged significantly in the days immediately
following the transmittal of the faxés. For example, the volume of shares trade& during the
period November 9 to November 19, 2004, was 64 percent higher than all other dayS.ir.l
November when Pickens did not send faxes. Emploglees of Inﬁmum Labs, who had been paid in
company stock, were able to sell their shares in the publié market as trading leﬁme increased.

31. Robeﬁs, who had authorized Pickens to conduct the fax campaign to promote
Infinium Labs’ stock, received complaints about “junk faxes” from .recipients of the faxes. The
complaints to Roberts began on the first day of the fax campaign, November 9, 2004. Roberts

- told those whq complained, and other members of Infinium Labs management, that he did not
know who had sent the faxes and that Infinium Labs was not responsible.

32. Alfhough Roberts did not personally draft the faxes, he received copies of the
faxes from some of those who complained. Roberts received at least two copies of the faxés in
November 2004; at least one copy in December 2004; at least one copy fn J anuary 2005; and at
least one copy in February 2005. Roberts reviewed the faxes on or about the dates -tﬁat he
received them. From his review of the faxes, Roberts khew or was extremely reckless in failing ‘

to determine that the faxes contained misleading price targets for Infinium Labs stock and
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inaccurate fi gﬁres for the nurhbers of shares outstanding and the company’s public float. He also
knew or was reckless in failing to determine that the faxes incorrectly stated that the Infinjum
Labs CEb was a developer of the Microsoft Xbox. In addition, he knew or disregarded with
extreme recklessness the timing of the purported Phantom launch as tﬁey appeared in the faxes.

33.  Even though he received and reviewed the fexes, and knew about or disregarded
the faxes’ misleading content, Roberts did not stop Pickens from continuing the promotional
campaign. On the contrary, Roberts communicated with Pickens in December 2004 and
encouraged h1m to send additional faxes. Roberts elso ensured that Pickens was paid for his
work. Despite the company’s poor cash position, Roberts wired Pickens $100,000 from an

- Infinium Labs bank account on December 17, 2004. On December 20, 2004, and again on -
December 31, 2004, Roberts wrote checks to Pickene totaling $100,000 froﬁl an Infinium Labs
bank.acco_unt.

34.  In addition to the cash pay1nen£s, Roberts paid Pickens in stock. On December 31,
2004, Roberts transferred four mi]liori shares of restricted Infinium Labs stock from his personal
holdings to Pickene. No registration statement was in effect with respect to the stock trensfer,
and Roberts did not register the transfer with tile Commission.

35.  Pickens gave notice of his inteﬁt to sell portions of the shares by filing Forms 144
with the Commieeioh on or about January 28 and March 14, ;2005. Between mid-February and
mid-May 2005, Pickens sold in the open market approximately 700,000 shares of the restricted
Infinium Labs stock that he had received from Roberts. Pickens received approximately
$l79;000 from the public sales. No registration statement was in effect during the period when

Pickens sold the stock.

-10-
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36.  Roberts personally profited from the promotional fax campaign by sellihg shares
of Infintum Labs stock. Roberts sold the 500,000 shares of stdck that hé had received in lieu of
cash compensation in November and December 2004 for approximately $123,000. Most of the
proceeds—approximately $92,500—came from sales following the start of the prémotional fax
campaign on Novémber 9, 2004. Roberts did not file notices of his stock transactions, as
required, on Forms 4 with the Commission.

37. Inlate January and early February 2005, aware that Pickens was continuing to |
send the r'nisléadihg faxes, Roberts sold 822,000 additional shares of restricted Infinium Labs
stock from his personal holdings. He received approximately $330,000 in connection with the
sales, which he disclosed on Forms 4 filed with the Commission.

FIRST CLAIM

Violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 thereunder
(False and Misleading Statements in Connection with the Purchase or Sale of Securities)

38. Paragraphs 1 through 37 are re-alleged and incorporated by reference.

39.  From November 2004 through February 2005, defendant Roberts, directly or
indirectly, in connection with the purchase or sale of securities, byvthe. use of thé means and
instrumentalities of interstate conunérce, by use of the mails, and by use of a ch?ility of the
national securities exchanges, and with scienter: (2) employed devices, schemes, or artifices to

: defraud;'_(b) obtained money or property by means of untrue statements of mateﬁal fact or
omitting to state material facts necessary in order to makevth'e stétements made, in the light of the
circumstances under which thiey were made, not misleading; and (c) engaged in transactions,

_' practices, or courses of business which operated or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon

purchasers of securities.

-11-
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40.  Defendant Roberts, by such conduct, violated 15 U.S.C. § 78_] (b)and 17 C.F.R.
§ 240.10b-5 and unless enjoined, w111 continue to engage in such v1olat10ns

SECOND CLAIM

Vlolatlons of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act
(False and Mlsleadmg Statements in Connection in the Offer or Sale of Securities)

41.  Paragraphs 1 through 37 are re-alleged and incorporated by reference.

42. - From November 2004 through Feﬁmary 2005, defendant Roberts, directly or
indirectly, in the éffer or éale of secuﬁtieg, by the use of the means and instruments of

. transportation and communication in interstate commerce, and by use of the mails: (a) with

scienter, employed devices, schemes, or artifices to defraud; (b) obtained money or property by
means of untrue statements of material fact or omifting to state material facts -necessary in order
to makie the statements niade, in the hght of the circumstances under which they were made, not
misleading; and (c) engaged in transactions, practices, or courses of business which operated or
would operate as a fraud or deceit upon purcﬁasers of securities.

43. . .Defendant Rbbgﬂs, by such conduct, violated 15 U.S.C. § 77q(a) and, unless
enjoined, will continue to engage in such violations.

THIRD CLAIM

Violations of -Sections S(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act
(Unregistered Offer and Sale of Securities)

44, | Paragraphs 1 through 37 are re-alleged and incorporated by reference.

45.  From November 2004 through May 2005, defendant Roberts directly or indjrect_ly,
by ﬁs_e of the means and instruments of transportation and communication in interstate
commerce, and by use of the mails, offered to sell a.pd sold certain securities as to whichno

| registration statement was filed with the Commission and was in effect.

-12-
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46.  Defendant Roberts, by such conduct, violated 15 U.S.C. § 77¢(a) and 15 U.S.C.
§ 77¢(c) and, unless enjoined, will continue to engage in such violations.

FOURTH CLAIM

Violations of Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule 16a-3 thereunder
(Failure to File Notices of Stock Transactions) .

47. Paragrai)hs 1 through 37 are ré—alleged and incorporated by reference. |

48.  From November 2004 through June 2005, defendant Roberts was an officer and
director of Inﬁnium. Labs and, directly or indirectly, a beneficial owner of more than ten percent
of Infinium Labs common stock.

-49.  From November 2004 through June 2005, defendant Roberts failed to file
statéments accurately reflecting changes in his béneﬁcial ownership of Infinium Labs comﬁlon
stock and annual statements accurately reflecting his beneficial ownership of Infinium Labs

- common stock.
50.  Defendant Roberts, by such conduct, violated 15 U.S.C. § 78p(a) and 17 CFR.
§ 240.16a-3 and, unless enj'oined, will continue to engage in such violations.
RELIEF REQUESTED
The Commission respectfully requests that the Court:
| A.
Enjoin defendant Roberts from engaging in future conduct in violation of 15 U.S.C.
§ 77e(a), 15 US.C. § 77¢(c), 15 U.S.C; § 77q(a), 15 U.S.C. § 783, 15 U.S.C. § 78p(a), 17 C.F.R.
§ 240.10b-5,and 17 C.F.R. § 240.16a;3.
B.
Order defendant Roberts to disgorgé all benefits that he obtained from his violations of

the secutities laws, with prejudglnent interest.

-13-
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C.

Order defendant Roberts to pay a civil penalty.

D.

Prohibit defendant Roberts from acting as an officer or director of an issuer that has a
class of securities registered pursuant to Section 12 of the E#change Act[15U.S.C. § 781} or
required to ﬁle reports pursuant to Section 15 of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 780].

E.
Prohibit defendant Roberts from participating in any offering of penny stock.
F.
Grant such other é.nd further relief as this Court may determine to be just and necessary.

Dated this 14th day of May, 2007.

Helane L. Morrison

Robert L. Tashjian

Securities and Exchange Commission.
44 Montgomery Street, 26th Floor
San Francisco, CA 94104

(415) 705-2500 o

By:

-14 -
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, Edwina R. Alcairo, am a citizen of the United States, over 18 years of age and not a party to
this action. I caused to be served by E-Mail the attached FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR
INJUNCTIVE AND OTHER RELIEF to Defendant’s counsel. |

I declare under penalty of peljury that the foregoing is true and correct. Executed at San

Francisco, California on May 14, 2007.

LoV ez

Edwina R. Alcaffo
Legal Technician




